Prevention of Human T-Cell Lymphotropic Virus Type 1 Infection and Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma

Makoto Yoshimitsu, Yohann White and Naomichi Arima

Abstract

Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATLL) is a highly aggressive peripheral T-cell malignancy that develops after long-term chronic infection with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type-1 (HTLV-1). Despite the recent advances in chemotherapy, allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (alloHSCT), and supportive care, the prognosis for patients with ATL is one of the poorest among hematological malignancies; overall survival (OS) at 3 years is only 24 % in the more aggressive subtypes of ATLL. HTLV-1 is a human retrovirus infecting approximately 10-20 million people worldwide, particularly in southern and southeastern Japan, the Caribbean, highlands of South America, Melanesia, and Equatorial Africa. Despite this high frequency of human infection, only 2-5 % of HTLV-1-infected individuals develop ATLL. Three major routes of viral transmission have been established: (1) mother-to-child transmission through breast-feeding; (2) sexual transmission, predominantly from men to women; and (3) cellular blood components. Multiple factors (e.g., virus, host cell, and immune factors) have been implicated in the development of ATLL, although the underlying mechanisms of leukemogenesis have not been fully elucidated. No preventive vaccine against HTLV-1 is currently available, and interrupting the well-recognized primary modes of HTLV-1 transmission is the mainstay of ATLL prevention. Prevention of

Y. White · N. Arima

M. Yoshimitsu (🖂) · N. Arima

Department of Hematology and Immunology, Kagoshima University Hospital, 8-35-1 Sakuragaoka, Kagoshima, 890-8520, Japan e-mail: myoshimi@m.kufm.kagoshima-u.ac.jp

Division of Hematology and Immunology, Center for Chronic Viral Diseases, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, 8-35-1 Sakuragaoka, Kagoshima, 890-8544, Japan

mother-to-child transmission through the replacement of breast-feeding has been shown to have the most significant impact on the incidence of HTLV-1 infection, and public health policies should consider the risk of malnutrition, especially in developing countries where malnutrition is the significant cause of infant mortality.

Keywords

HTLV-1 · ATLL · ATL · Breast-feeding · Transfusion

Contents

1	Introduction of Prevention of HTLV-1 and AdultT-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma 212			
2	Epidemiology of HTLV-1 Infection			
	2.1 Worldwide	212		
	2.2 Japan	213		
3	Mode of Transmission and Clinical Outcome	213		
4	Epidemiology of Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma	213		
5	Mechanisms of HTLV-1 Transmission			
6	Prevention of Transmission of HTLV-1	215		
	6.1 Prevention of Vertical Transmission	215		
	6.2 Prevention of Horizontal Transmission	215		
	6.3 Transfusion and Sexual Transmission			
7	Development of Adult T-cell leukemia lymphoma			
	7.1 Pathogenesis of Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma			
	7.2 Determinants of Progression from Asymptomatic Carrier Status to ATLL	217		
8	Prognosis for Patients with Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma			
	8.1 Acute and Lymphoma Sub-Types	218		
	8.2 Chronic and Smoldering Sub-Types	218		
9	Current Treatment Options	218		
	9.1 Conventional Chemotherapy	218		
	9.2 Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation	219		
	9.3 Interferon-α (IFN-α) and Zidovudine (AZT)	219		
	9.4 Prevention of ATLL	220		
	9.5 Future Directions for the Prevention of ATLL	220		
10	Conclusion	221		
Refe	eferences 22			

1 Introduction of Prevention of HTLV-1 and Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma

Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) was first discovered as the human retrovirus causally linked to the T-cell hematological malignancy and adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (Poiesz et al. 1980; Yoshida et al. 1982). The virus is transmitted through contact with body fluids containing HTLV-1-infected cells, mostly from mother-to-child transmission through breast-feeding or through blood transfusions. Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATLL) develops after a prolonged

incubation period in a minority of individuals infected with HTLV-1, and strategies aimed at preventing ATLL are based on interrupting HTLV-1 transmission. Firstly, interrupting HTLV-1 transmission by screening for HTLV-1 among blood donors and restricting breast-feeding by mothers who are HTLV-1 carriers have been the primary public health approaches in HTLV-1 endemic areas. The second strategy, although intuitive but that has yet to be realized due to a lack of effective modalities, is the prevention of progression to ATLL among HTLV-1 carriers. Approximately 90 % of HTLV-1 carriers remain as healthy uninfected individuals throughout their lifetime, and there are no clear predictors of progression to ATLL. In addition, preventive strategies such as vaccination could theoretically lead to preventive strategies based on our current understanding of immune-mediated disorders also known to be linked to HTLV-1, including HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP).

2 Epidemiology of HTLV-1 Infection

2.1 Worldwide

Nearly 20 million people worldwide are estimated to be infected with HTLV-1 (de The and Kazanji 1996). Among them, only less than 10 % develops HTLV-1-related disorders, including adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma throughout their lifetime. A number of studies investigating the geographical and ethno-epidemiological distribution of the virus have been conducted over the last 3 decades (Goncalves et al. 2010; Sonoda et al. 2011) and have revealed that southwestern Japan, parts of Africa, the Caribbean Islands, and Central and South America are the endemic areas. In Europe and North America, infection with HTLV-1 is predominantly found in immigrant populations originating from endemic countries.

2.2 Japan

A recent seroprevalence study has revealed that the estimated number of HTLV-1 carriers in Japan is at least 1.08 million (Satake et al. 2012). This is 10 % lower than that reported in 1988. The estimated prevalence rates were 0.66 % in men and 1.02 % in women.

3 Mode of Transmission and Clinical Outcome

The primary modes of infection with HTLV-1 have been well described; namely (1) mother-to-child transmission, mainly via breast-feeding (Kinoshita et al. 1987; Yamanouchi et al. 1985); (2) sexual transmission, predominantly from men to women (Murphy et al. 1989; Tajima et al. 1982); and (3) through cellular blood

components (Okochi and Sato 1984). Studies suggest an association between the mode of infection and the type of HTLV-1-associated disease seen. ATLL has been mainly associated with acquiring infection through breast-feeding, and HAM/TSP with acquiring infection through blood transfusions (Osame et al. 1990). Reports of ATLL cases occurring in patients infected through blood transfusion are few (Chen et al. 1989). The risk of transmission from mother to child during breast-feeding has been estimated to be 20 % (Hino et al. 1985), while the risk of transmission during pregnancy or the peripartum period was estimated to be less than 5 % (Fujino and Nagata 2000). ATLL development may be linked to a prolonged period of infection with HTLV-1 acquired through vertical transmission.

4 Epidemiology of Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma

Only a small proportion of HTLV-1 carriers develop ATLL after a long latency period. Despite the wide geographical distribution, data on the incidence and prevalence of ATLL, except for Japan, are scarce. Furthermore, it is likely that existing reports may be underestimating the prevalence of lymphoma subtype especially due to similarities in clinical presentation compared with other T-cell lymphomas and limited diagnostic capabilities in resource-poor settings. Among the Japanese population, the incidence of ATLL among carriers is estimated to be between 4.5 and 7.3 % in men and 2.6 and 3.5 % in women (Koga et al. 2010; Kondo et al. 1989; Tokudome et al. 1989). ATLL is reported to develop among individuals predominantly in their fifth decade of life in Japan (Takatsuki et al. 1996), whereas in Jamaica and Brazilian series, patients tend to present with the disease in the fourth decade of life, suggesting that other immunological or host genetic factors may play a role in the pathogenesis of ATLL (Gibbs et al. 1987; Pombo de Oliveira et al. 1995).

5 Mechanisms of HTLV-1 Transmission

HTLV-1 can infect a wide variety of human cell types in vitro (Koyanagi et al. 1993; Sommerfelt et al. 1988), and its presumed receptor is therefore thought to be a widely expressed molecule. Glucose transporter-1 (GLUT1), heparin sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG), and neuropilin-1 have been reported to be involved in the interaction between the viral envelop and the host cell membrane, and for viral entry into the target cells (Jones et al. 2005; Lambert et al. 2009; Manel et al. 2003). The current model postulates that HTLV-1 particles first come into contact with HSPG, followed by recruitment of the HTLV-1/HSPG complex by neuropilin-1, finally interacting with GLUT1. Formation of the HSPG/neuropilin-1/GLUT1 complex appears to be essential for the fusion of the viral envelope and host cell membrane and viral entry.

Cell-free HTLV-1 virions are poorly infectious in vitro for most of cell types, including their primary target cells, CD4 T-cells. Direct cell-to-cell contact appears to be essential for HTLV-1 infection, except for myeloid and plasmacytoid

dendritic cells (DCs), which appear to be susceptible to infection by cell-free HTLV-1 virions (Jones et al. 2008). DCs may therefore play an important role in transmission, possibly facilitating spread during contact between breast milk and the infant's gastrointestinal mucosa.

Three major mechanisms of cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1 have been proposed: (1) HTLV-1-infection of lymphocytes results in polarization of their microtubules and viral components upon contact with other T-cells, forming a so-called virological synapse (Igakura et al. 2003); (2) HTLV-1-infected cells produce and transiently store viral particles in extracellular adhesive structures rich in extracellular matrix components, including collagen and agrin, and cellular linker proteins, such as tetherin and galectin-3, similar to bacterial biofilms. Extracellular viral assemblies then rapidly adhere to other cells upon contact, allowing viral spread and infection of target cells (Pais-Correia et al. 2010); and (3) the HTLV-1–pX region-encoded p8 protein increases T-cell conjugation through lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 clustering. In addition, p8 induces cellular conduits among T-cells and increases viral transmission (Van Prooyen et al. 2010).

6 Prevention of Transmission of HTLV-1

The prognosis for ATLL remains one of the worst among hematological malignancies, even with the best available therapies, and no preventive vaccine against HTLV-1 is currently available. Prevention of transmission of HTLV-1 is therefore an important strategy in preventing ATLL.

6.1 Prevention of Vertical Transmission

Based on retrospective and prospective epidemiological studies, the mother-tochild transmission rate is estimated to be 20 % (Hino et al. 1985). Prevention of mother-to-child transmission by restricting breast-feeding has the most significant impact on the incidence of HTLV-1 infection and associated diseases. In a prefecture-wide intervention study in Nagasaki, southern Japan, in which mothers with HTLV-1 infection were counseled to avoid breast-feeding, there was a marked reduction of mother-to-child transmission from 20.3 to 2.5 %. Thus, prenatal screening for HTLV-1 may be an important public health strategy in endemic areas, in conjunction with counseling of mothers with HTLV-1 infection to avoid breast-feeding. Although children breast-fed for less than 6 months have significantly lower incidence of HTLV-1 infection than those breast-fed for more than 6 months, the risk of transmission is significantly higher for the former group compared with formula-fed infants (Hino 2011).

Even with exclusive bottle-feeding, 2.5 % of infants born to carrier mothers become infected with HTLV-1. As intrauterine transmission of HTLV-1 is rare, transplacental transmission during delivery seems to be the probable mode of transmission, as has been reported for hepatitis B and hepatitis C viruses.

Although exclusive formula-feeding reduces the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HTLV-1, risk of malnutrition is a significant concern in developing countries, where malnutrition remains a significant contributor to infant mortality.

6.2 Prevention of Horizontal Transmission

HTLV-1 can also spread through contact with body fluids, whole blood or blood components. As ATLL is associated with prolonged infection acquired during vertical transmission, and with infection through blood transfusions, the purpose of the prevention of horizontal transmission is mainly to reduce the general pool of HTLV-1 carriers.

6.3 Transfusion and Sexual Transmission

HTLV-1 screening programs aimed at preventing transfusion-related transmission of HTLV-1 through systematic screening of all blood donors as a public health control measure have been implemented in many endemic areas, since 1986 (Inaba et al. 1989; Osame et al. 1990). Restricting breast-feeding and blood donor screening resulted in a decrease in HTLV-1 carriers from 2.79 to 0.44 % in Kagoshima Prefecture, southern Japan (Table 1). In HTLV-1 non-endemic areas, reports indicate that HTLV-1 infection may be concentrated in select donor populations, especially among immigrants from endemic areas. For developing countries, the cost of imported screening test kits may be prohibitive, necessitating the development of more cost-effective tools and programs for blood donor screening. In most African countries, transfusion remains a significant contributor to HTLV-1 transmission.

Year	The number of blood transfusion donor	The number of HTLV-1 carrier	%
1999	98,644	2,751	2.79
2000	91,456	1,368	1.50
2001	92,281	1,048	1.14
2002	89,458	827	0.92
2003	86,000	686	0.80
2004	82,310	565	0.69
2005	73,792	435	0.59
2006	69,133	388	0.56
2007	69,741	360	0.52
2008	71,226	313	0.44

Table 1 Changes in the number of HTLV-1 carrier among blood transfusion donor at Kagoshima prefecture, southern part of Japan (1999–2008)

Sexual transmission of HTLV-1 is primarily due to the transmission from men to women. Recommendations to prevent sexually transmitted infections should be emphasized, including condom use and avoiding multiple and anonymous sexual partners. Access to accurate information about HTLV-1 infection and appropriate counseling are important preventive strategies, as blood donor candidates and sexually active persons are usually asymptomatic and are primarily of reproductive age.

7 Development of Adult T-cell leukemia lymphoma

7.1 Pathogenesis of Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma

The pathogenesis of ATLL is not completely understood. Extensive studies have revealed that HTLV-1 transactivator/transcriptional activator (Tax) plays a critical role in the transformation of virus-infected cells. Tax is thought to be a potent oncoprotein, as it results in immortalization of human primary T-cells and Tax transgenic mice malignancy. Tax enhances viral replication through transactivation of the viral promoter, the 5' long tandem repeat (LTR), results in activation of the nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-kB) pathway, interferes with cell cycle regulators, induces aneuploidy and DNA damage, and impairs DNA repair. Thus, Tax is thought to play a key role in the pathogenesis of ATLL (Matsuoka and Jeang 2011).

HTLV-1 bZIP factor (HBZ) is coded for by the minus strand of the HTLV-1 provirus and can be found in all ATLL cells (Satou et al. 2006). HBZ protein was originally reported to suppress Tax-mediated viral transcription; however, HBZ RNA has also been shown to promote cell proliferation. Importantly, HBZ transgenic mice developed CD4/forkhead box protein-3 (Foxp3)-positive T-cell lymphoma, resembling the immunophenotype and clinical features of human ATLL. These findings suggest that HBZ is a critical factor in leukemogenesis. The proposed model for the interplay between Tax and HBZ is that Tax is needed to initiate the transformation of HTLV-1-infected cells, while HBZ is required to maintain the transformed phenotype in ATLL (Matsuoka and Jeang 2011).

7.2 Determinants of Progression from Asymptomatic Carrier Status to ATLL

The determinants of ATLL progression in HTLV-1 carriers have been investigated in many epidemiological and clinical studies. In Japanese cohorts, the average age at diagnosis is about 65 years (Yamada et al. 2011), significantly greater than in the Jamaican cohort, who present in their mid-forties, suggesting that other host and environmental factors may also be involved in ATLL pathogenesis (Hanchard 1996). The age at the time of HTLV-1 infection is also a critical factor in ATLL development, as ATLL rarely develops in HTLV-1 carriers who acquired infection through horizontal transmission. Several studies have examined host genetic factors, including HLA haplotypes, due to the observation that patients with ATLL were more likely to have a family history of ATLL when compared with the general population. The frequency of HLA-A*26, HLA-B*4002, HLA-B*4006, and HLA-B*4801 alleles was significantly higher in ATLL patients than in HTLV-1 asymptomatic carriers in Japan (Yashiki et al. 2001). In the Miyazaki cohort, HTLV-1 carriers with a higher anti-HTLV-1 titer and lower anti-Tax reactivity were at greatest risk of developing ATLL (Hisada et al. 1998), and higher HTLV-1 proviral load was a significant risk factor for progression from asymptomatic HTLV-1 carrier status to ATLL. A nationwide prospective study of HTLV-1 carriers in Japan was initiated to identify the determinants of ATLL development. Fourteen subjects out of 1,218 asymptomatic carriers developed ATLL, and all of the 14 subjects had higher baseline proviral loads, whereas there were no cases of ATLL among those with a baseline proviral load of less than 4 copies/100 peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Iwanaga et al. 2010).

8 Prognosis for Patients with Adult T-Cell Leukemia/ Lymphoma

8.1 Acute and Lymphoma Sub-Types

The prognosis for patients with acute and lymphoma subtypes of ATLL remains poor, even with chemotherapy or allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (alloHSCT). With currently best available chemotherapy in one series (Tsukasaki et al. 2007), the rate of complete response (CR) was 40 % and overall survival (OS) at 3 years was 24 %. The median survival time (MST) is 13 months.

8.2 Chronic and Smoldering Sub-Types

In a previous study, in which Japanese patients with ATLL were followed for a total duration of 7 years, the 4-year survival rates for chronic and smoldering sub-types were 26.9 and 62.8 %, respectively, with a MST of 24.3 months for the chronic sub-type (Shimoyama 1991). Therefore, the chronic and smoldering subtypes of ATLL are characterized by an indolent clinical course and are usually managed by observation or "watchful waiting" until disease progression to acute crisis, which is similar to the approach to the management of chronic lymphoid leukemia or smoldering myeloma. However, a recent report with long-term follow-up of these indolent sub-types of ATLL (chronic and smoldering) revealed that the MST was 4.1 years and the estimated 5-, 10-, and 15-year survival rates were 47.2, 25.4, and 14.1 %, respectively (Takasaki et al. 2010), which were poorer than expected. These findings suggest that even patients with indolent forms of ATLL should be carefully observed in clinical practice, and further research is needed to improve the management of these patients.

9 Current Treatment Options

9.1 Conventional Chemotherapy

The results of a phase III randomized control trial suggest that the vincristine, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and prednisone (VCAP); doxorubicin, ranimustine, and prednisone (AMP); and vindesine, etoposide, carboplatin, and prednisone (VECP) regimens show no benefit over biweekly cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone (CHOP) in newly diagnosed acute, lymphoma, or unfavorable chronic subtypes of ATLL in terms of OS, primary study endpoint, or progression-free survival (Tsukasaki et al. 2007). However, the rate of CR was higher in the VCAP-AMP-VECP arm than the biweekly CHOP arm (40 vs 25 %, respectively; P = 0.020). OS at 3 years was 24 % in the VCAP-AMP-VECP arm and 13 % in the CHOP arm (P = 0.085). Nonetheless, the MST of 13 months still compares unfavorably to other hematological malignancies.

9.2 Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

Allogeneic HSCT (alloHSCT) has been explored as a promising alternative therapeutic modality that can provide long-term remission in a proportion of patients with ATLL (Choi et al. 2011; Hishizawa et al. 2010; Utsunomiya et al. 2001). In a recent large nationwide retrospective analysis, investigators compared outcomes of 386 patients with ATL who underwent alloHSCT. After a median follow-up of 41 months, 3-year OS for the entire cohort was 33 % (Hishizawa et al. 2010). Another retrospective study based on 294 ATLL patients who received alloHSCT revealed that the development of mild-to-moderate acute GVHD confers a lower risk of disease progression and a beneficial influence on survival (Kanda et al. 2012), which is indicative of a graft-versus-ATLL effect. Another large retrospective analysis of alloHSCT for ATLL (n = 586) in Japan revealed no significant difference in OS between myeloablative conditioning (MAC) and reduced intensity conditioning (RIC). There was a tendency toward better OS in older patients receiving RIC (Ishida et al. 2012). The number of ATLL patients eligible for allogeneic transplantation is few because of older age at presentation and the low rate of CR. Selection criteria for alloHSCT for patients with ATLL remain to be determined.

9.3 Interferon-*α* (IFN-*α*) and Zidovudine (AZT)

Results of a recent meta-analysis on the use of AZT/IFN for 254 ATLL patients worldwide showed that the treatment of ATLL patients with AZT and IFN resulted in better response and prolonged OS (Bazarbachi et al. 2010). Two hundred and seven patients received AZT/IFN therapy. In these patients, 5-year OS rates were

46 % for 75 patients who received antiviral therapy (P = 0.004). In acute ATLL, achievement of complete remission with antiviral therapy resulted in 82 % 5-year survival. These results suggest that the treatment of ATLL using AZT/IFN results in high response and CR rates except for lymphoma type of ATLL, resulting in prolonged survival in a significant proportion of patients. Although this is a retrospective analysis, the results seem to be promising, and further studies comparing AZT/IFN- α and conventional chemotherapy or alloHSCT are warranted.

9.4 Prevention of ATLL

The prevention of ATLL mostly relies on the prevention of HTLV-1 transmission as previously described. Another strategy could be the prevention of ATLL development among HTLV-1 carriers. Despite the prolonged carrier status before ATLL development, there are no interventions exploiting this window of opportunity to treat ATLL. This is partly because only approximately 10 % of HTLV-1 carriers develop HTLV-1-related disease in their lifetime. Careful risk-benefit analysis including the acceptability of side effects during interventions is needed.

9.5 Future Directions for the Prevention of ATLL

9.5.1 Immunological Impairment of HTLV-1-Specific T-Cells

Vertical transmission, high proviral loads, and suppression of HTLV-1-specific Tcell immune responses are important risk factors for ATLL development. It has been reported that Tax-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) detected in chronic and smoldering ATLL and a subset of asymptomatic carriers are anergic to antigen stimulation (Takamori et al. 2011). Such functional impairment of CTLs seems specific to HTLV-1, as cytomegalovirus-specific CTLs, for example, remain intact.

In animal models, oral inoculation of HTLV-1 virions induces T-cell tolerance against HTLV-1 (Hasegawa et al. 2003). As breast-feeding is the main route of vertical transmission in HTLV-1 infection, this may induce neonatal T-cell tolerance against HTLV-1.

In addition to immunological tolerance, T-cell exhaustion may be another mechanism of antigen-specific T-cell suppression. We have reported on the upregulation of programmed death-1 (PD-1) expression on Tax-specific CTLs, suggesting Tax-specific T-cell exhaustion (Kozako et al. 2009).

9.5.2 Vaccine

Vaccination of uninfected individuals against HTLV-1 is not a sophisticated feasible strategy for the prevention of ATLL, as ATLL develops after a long latency period in individuals vertically transmitted HTLV-1 carriers within the first 6 months of life, and vertical transmission is almost completely prevented by

avoiding breast-feeding. Thus, the purpose of vaccination should be to augment HTLV-1-specific T-cell responses in asymptomatic carriers, enhancing clearance of infected and transformed cells, thereby protecting against ATLL.

HTLV-1 Tax-targeted vaccines in a rat model of HTLV-1-induced lymphomas showed promising antitumor effects (Ohashi et al. 2000). In addition, HTLV-1immunized monkeys developed a strong cellular immune response with HTLV-1derived peptide vaccines, and a significant reduction in HTLV-1 proviral load was observed in these immunized monkeys after challenge (Kazanji et al. 2006). Therefore, these results provide the scientific rationale for clinical use of such a vaccine for preventing ATLL. There remain, however, several obstacles to be overcome before clinical application can be realized. HTLV-1 synthetic peptides are poorly immunogenic, with inefficient induction of antigen-specific CTLs. We have shown in previous reports that oligomannose-coated liposomes (OMLs) encapsulating the HLA-A*0201-restricted HTLV-1 Tax-epitope (OML/Tax) resulted in the efficient induction of HTLV-1-specific T-cell responses (Kozako et al. 2011). Further, immunization of HLA-A*0201 transgenic mice with OML/ Tax resulted in the efficient induction of HTLV-1-specific IFN- γ producing Tcells, and DCs exposed to OML/Tax showed increased expression of DC maturation markers. In addition, HTLV-1-Tax-specific CD8+ T-cells were efficiently induced by OML/Tax derived from HTLV-1 carriers ex vivo. OML/Tax increased the number of HTLV-1-specific CD8+ T-cells by an average 170-fold. Furthermore, these HTLV-1-specific CD8+ cells efficiently lysed HTLV-1 epitope peptide-pulsed T2-A2 cells. These results suggest that OML/Tax induces antigenspecific cellular immune responses without the need for adjuvants and may be an effective vaccine candidate to reduce progression to ATLL.

Better prognosticators would help identify individuals most at risk for progression to ATLL, allowing us to limit the exposure of lower-risk individuals to unwanted immunological responses to vaccination, including autoimmune-like conditions such as HAM/TSP.

10 Conclusion

To date, restricting breast-feeding by mothers with HTLV-1 infection has been the mainstay of HTLV-1 prevention thereby extending ATLL. Antenatal screening for HTLV-1 should be implemented in the endemic areas, with provision of accurate information and counseling. In addition, screening of blood donor candidates has been shown to be effective in preventing HTLV-1 transmission. Recommendations to prevent sexual transmission should be emphasized, including condom use and adopting safe sexual behavior. The development of an effective and safe vaccine could be an important tool in protecting HTLV-1-infected carriers against ATLL.

References

- Bazarbachi A, Plumelle Y, Carlos Ramos J, Tortevoye P, Otrock Z, Taylor G, Gessain A, Harrington W, Panelatti G, Hermine O (2010) Meta-analysis on the use of zidovudine and interferon-alfa in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma showing improved survival in the leukemic subtypes. J Clin Oncol 28:4177–4183
- Chen YC, Wang CH, Su IJ, Hu CY, Chou MJ, Lee TH, Lin DT, Chung TY, Liu CH, Yang CS (1989) Infection of human T-cell leukemia virus type I and development of human T-cell leukemia lymphoma in patients with hematologic neoplasms: a possible linkage to blood transfusion. Blood 74:388–394
- Choi I, Tanosaki R, Uike N, Utsunomiya A, Tomonaga M, Harada M, Yamanaka T, Kannagi M, Okamura J (2011) Long-term outcomes after hematopoietic SCT for adult T-cell leukemia/ lymphoma: results of prospective trials. Bone Marrow Transplant 46:116–118
- de The G, Kazanji M (1996) An HTLV-I/II vaccine: from animal models to clinical trials? J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 13(Suppl 1):S191–S198
- Fujino T, Nagata Y (2000) HTLV-I transmission from mother to child. J Reprod Immunol 47:197–206
- Gibbs WN, Lofters WS, Campbell M, Hanchard B, LaGrenade L, Cranston B, Hendriks J, Jaffe ES, Saxinger C, Robert-Guroff M et al (1987) Non-hodgkin lymphoma in Jamaica and its relation to adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma. Ann Intern Med 106:361–368
- Goncalves DU, Proietti FA, Ribas JG, Araujo MG, Pinheiro SR, Guedes AC, Carneiro-Proietti AB (2010) Epidemiology, treatment, and prevention of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1associated diseases. Clin Microbiol Rev 23:577–589
- Hanchard B (1996) Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in Jamaica: 1986–1995. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 13(Suppl 1):S20–S25
- Hasegawa A, Ohashi T, Hanabuchi S, Kato H, Takemura F, Masuda T, Kannagi M (2003) Expansion of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) reservoir in orally infected rats: inverse correlation with HTLV-1-specific cellular immune response. J Virol 77:2956–2963
- Hino S (2011) Establishment of the milk-borne transmission as a key factor for the peculiar endemicity of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1): the ATL prevention program Nagasaki. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 87:152–166
- Hino S, Yamaguchi K, Katamine S, Sugiyama H, Amagasaki T, Kinoshita K, Yoshida Y, Doi H, Tsuji Y, Miyamoto T (1985) Mother-to-child transmission of human T-cell leukemia virus type-I. Jpn J Cancer Res 76:474–480
- Hisada M, Okayama A, Shioiri S, Spiegelman DL, Stuver SO, Mueller NE (1998) Risk factors for adult T-cell leukemia among carriers of human T-lymphotropic virus type I. Blood 92:3557–3561
- Hishizawa M, Kanda J, Utsunomiya A, Taniguchi S, Eto T, Moriuchi Y, Tanosaki R, Kawano F, Miyazaki Y, Masuda M et al (2010) Transplantation of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells for adult T-cell leukemia: a nationwide retrospective study. Blood 116:1369–1376
- Igakura T, Stinchcombe JC, Goon PK, Taylor GP, Weber JN, Griffiths GM, Tanaka Y, Osame M, Bangham CR (2003) Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virus-induced polarization of the cytoskeleton. Science 299:1713–1716
- Inaba S, Sato H, Okochi K, Fukada K, Takakura F, Tokunaga K, Kiyokawa H, Maeda Y (1989) Prevention of transmission of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) through transfusion, by donor screening with antibody to the virus. One-year experience. Transfusion 29:7–11
- Ishida T, Hishizawa M, Kato K, Tanosaki R, Fukuda T, Taniguchi S, Eto T, Takatsuka Y, Miyazaki Y, Moriuchi Y et al (2012) Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma with special emphasis on preconditioning regimen: a nationwide retrospective study. Blood 120:1734–1741
- Iwanaga M, Watanabe T, Utsunomiya A, Okayama A, Uchimaru K, Koh KR, Ogata M, Kikuchi H, Sagara Y, Uozumi K et al (2010) Human T-cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-1) proviral

load and disease progression in asymptomatic HTLV-1 carriers: a nationwide prospective study in Japan. Blood 116:1211–1219

- Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Bertolette DC, Huang Y, Ruscetti FW (2005) Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate attachment and entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 virions into CD4+ T cells. J Virol 79:12692–12702
- Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Huang YK, Bertolette DC, Ruscetti FW (2008) Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells. Nat Med 14:429–436
- Kanda J, Hishizawa M, Utsunomiya A, Taniguchi S, Eto T, Moriuchi Y, Tanosaki R, Kawano F, Miyazaki Y, Masuda M et al (2012) Impact of graft-versus-host disease on outcomes after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for adult T-cell leukemia: a retrospective cohort study. Blood 119:2141–2148
- Kazanji M, Heraud JM, Merien F, Pique C, de The G, Gessain A, Jacobson S (2006) Chimeric peptide vaccine composed of B- and T-cell epitopes of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 induces humoral and cellular immune responses and reduces the proviral load in immunized squirrel monkeys (*Saimiri sciureus*). J Gen Virol 87:1331–1337
- Kinoshita K, Amagasaki T, Hino S, Doi H, Yamanouchi K, Ban N, Momita S, Ikeda S, Kamihira S, Ichimaru M et al (1987) Milk-borne transmission of HTLV-I from carrier mothers to their children. Jpn J Cancer Res 78:674–680
- Koga Y, Iwanaga M, Soda M, Inokuchi N, Sasaki D, Hasegawa H, Yanagihara K, Yamaguchi K, Kamihira S, Yamada Y (2010) Trends in HTLV-1 prevalence and incidence of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in Nagasaki, Japan. J Med Virol 82:668–674
- Kondo T, Kono H, Miyamoto N, Yoshida R, Toki H, Matsumoto I, Hara M, Inoue H, Inatsuki A, Funatsu T et al (1989) Age- and sex-specific cumulative rate and risk of ATLL for HTLV-I carriers. Int J Cancer 43:1061–1064
- Koyanagi Y, Itoyama Y, Nakamura N, Takamatsu K, Kira J, Iwamasa T, Goto I, Yamamoto N (1993) In vivo infection of human T-cell leukemia virus type I in non-T cells. Virology 196:25–33
- Kozako T, Yoshimitsu M, Fujiwara H, Masamoto I, Horai S, White Y, Akimoto M, Suzuki S, Matsushita K, Uozumi K et al (2009) PD-1/PD-L1 expression in human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 carriers and adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma patients. Leukemia 23:375–382
- Kozako T, Hirata S, Shimizu Y, Satoh Y, Yoshimitsu M, White Y, Lemonnier F, Shimeno H, Soeda S, Arima N (2011) Oligomannose-coated liposomes efficiently induce human T-cell leukemia virus-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes without adjuvant. FEBS J 278:1358–1366
- Lambert S, Bouttier M, Vassy R, Seigneuret M, Petrow-Sadowski C, Janvier S, Heveker N, Ruscetti FW, Perret G, Jones KS et al (2009) HTLV-1 uses HSPG and neuropilin-1 for entry by molecular mimicry of VEGF165. Blood 113:5176–5185
- Manel N, Kim FJ, Kinet S, Taylor N, Sitbon M, Battini JL (2003) The ubiquitous glucose transporter GLUT-1 is a receptor for HTLV. Cell 115:449–459
- Matsuoka M, Jeang KT (2011) Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and leukemic transformation: viral infectivity, Tax, HBZ and therapy. Oncogene 30:1379–1389
- Murphy EL, Figueroa JP, Gibbs WN, Brathwaite A, Holding-Cobham M, Waters D, Cranston B, Hanchard B, Blattner WA (1989) Sexual transmission of human T-lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I). Ann Intern Med 111:555–560
- Ohashi T, Hanabuchi S, Kato H, Tateno H, Takemura F, Tsukahara T, Koya Y, Hasegawa A, Masuda T, Kannagi M (2000) Prevention of adult T-cell leukemia-like lymphoproliferative disease in rats by adoptively transferred T cells from a donor immunized with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax-coding DNA vaccine. J Virol 74:9610–9616
- Okochi K, Sato H (1984) Transmission of ATLV (HTLV-I) through blood transfusion. Princess Takamatsu Symp 15:129–135
- Osame M, Janssen R, Kubota H, Nishitani H, Igata A, Nagataki S, Mori M, Goto I, Shimabukuro H, Khabbaz R et al (1990) Nationwide survey of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy in Japan: association with blood transfusion. Ann Neurol 28:50–56

- Pais-Correia AM, Sachse M, Guadagnini S, Robbiati V, Lasserre R, Gessain A, Gout O, Alcover A, Thoulouze MI (2010) Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-tocell transmission at virological synapses. Nat Med 16:83–89
- Poiesz BJ, Ruscetti FW, Gazdar AF, Bunn PA, Minna JD, Gallo RC (1980) Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 77:7415–7419
- Pombo de Oliveira MS, Matutes E, Schulz T, Carvalho SM, Noronha H, Reaves JD, Loureiro P, Machado C, Catovsky D (1995) T-cell malignancies in Brazil. Clinico-pathological and molecular studies of HTLV-I-positive and -negative cases. Int J Cancer 60:823–827
- Satake M, Yamaguchi K, Tadokoro K (2012) Current prevalence of HTLV-1 in Japan as determined by screening of blood donors. J Med Virol 84:327–335
- Satou Y, Yasunaga J, Yoshida M, Matsuoka M (2006) HTLV-I basic leucine zipper factor gene mRNA supports proliferation of adult T cell leukemia cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:720–725
- Shimoyama M (1991) Diagnostic criteria and classification of clinical subtypes of adult T-cell leukaemia-lymphoma. A report from the Lymphoma Study Group (1984–87). Br J Haematol 79:428–437
- Sommerfelt MA, Williams BP, Clapham PR, Solomon E, Goodfellow PN, Weiss RA (1988) Human T cell leukemia viruses use a receptor determined by human chromosome 17. Science 242:1557–1559
- Sonoda S, Li HC, Tajima K (2011) Ethnoepidemiology of HTLV-1 related diseases: ethnic determinants of HTLV-1 susceptibility and its worldwide dispersal. Cancer Sci 102:295–301
- Tajima K, Tominaga S, Suchi T, Kawagoe T, Komoda H, Hinuma Y, Oda T, Fujita K (1982) Epidemiological analysis of the distribution of antibody to adult T-cell leukemia-virusassociated antigen: possible horizontal transmission of adult T-cell leukemia virus. Gann 73:893–901
- Takamori A, Hasegawa A, Utsunomiya A, Maeda Y, Yamano Y, Masuda M, Shimizu Y, Tamai Y, Sasada A, Zeng N et al (2011) Functional impairment of Tax-specific but not cytomegalovirus-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes in a minor population of asymptomatic human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-carriers. Retrovirology 8:100
- Takasaki Y, Iwanaga M, Imaizumi Y, Tawara M, Joh T, Kohno T, Yamada Y, Kamihira S, Ikeda S, Miyazaki Y et al (2010) Long-term study of indolent adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma. Blood 115:4337–4343
- Takatsuki K, Matsuoka M, Yamaguchi K (1996) Adult T-cell leukemia in Japan. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 13(Suppl 1):S15–S19
- Tokudome S, Tokunaga O, Shimamoto Y, Miyamoto Y, Sumida I, Kikuchi M, Takeshita M, Ikeda T, Fujiwara K, Yoshihara M et al (1989) Incidence of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma among human T-lymphotropic virus type I carriers in Saga, Japan. Cancer Res 49:226–228
- Tsukasaki K, Utsunomiya A, Fukuda H, Shibata T, Fukushima T, Takatsuka Y, Ikeda S, Masuda M, Nagoshi H, Ueda R et al (2007) VCAP-AMP-VECP compared with biweekly CHOP for adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma: Japan Clinical Oncology Group Study JCOG9801. J Clin Oncol 25:5458–5464
- Utsunomiya A, Miyazaki Y, Takatsuka Y, Hanada S, Uozumi K, Yashiki S, Tara M, Kawano F, Saburi Y, Kikuchi H et al (2001) Improved outcome of adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma with allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 27:15–20
- Van Prooyen N, Gold H, Andresen V, Schwartz O, Jones K, Ruscetti F, Lockett S, Gudla P, Venzon D, Franchini G (2010) Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 p8 protein increases cellular conduits and virus transmission. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:20738–20743
- Yamada Y, Atogami S, Hasegawa H, Kamihira S, Soda M, Satake M, Yamaguchi K (2011) Nationwide survey of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATL) in Japan. Rinsho Ketsueki 52:1765–1771
- Yamanouchi K, Kinoshita K, Moriuchi R, Katamine S, Amagasaki T, Ikeda S, Ichimaru M, Miyamoto T, Hino S (1985) Oral transmission of human T-cell leukemia virus type-I into a

common marmoset (*Callithrix jacchus*) as an experimental model for milk-borne transmission. Jpn J Cancer Res 76:481–487

- Yashiki S, Fujiyoshi T, Arima N, Osame M, Yoshinaga M, Nagata Y, Tara M, Nomura K, Utsunomiya A, Hanada S et al (2001) HLA-A*26, HLA-B*4002, HLA-B*4006, and HLA-B*4801 alleles predispose to adult T cell leukemia: the limited recognition of HTLV type 1 tax peptide anchor motifs and epitopes to generate anti-HTLV type 1 tax CD8(+) cytotoxic T lymphocytes. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 17:1047–1061
- Yoshida M, Miyoshi I, Hinuma Y (1982) Isolation and characterization of retrovirus from cell lines of human adult T-cell leukemia and its implication in the disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 79:2031–2035